SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CC-00940

AI	PELLANT'S BRIEF	

FELISHA TILLMON 1724 N. BROADWAY EXT. # 9 GREENVILLE, MS 38703 (662) 336-9469

APPELLANT

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CC-00940

F	FI	ISH.	A '	TII	T	M	\mathbf{ON}	
יי			_		, ,		V/11	

APPELLANT

VS.

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. WHETHER APPELLANT'S APPEAL TO THE MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY BOARD OF REVIEW WAS TIMELY FILED
- II. WHETHER APPELLANT SHOWED GOOD CAUSE FOR FAILURE TO APPEAR
 FOR TELEPHONE HEARING BEFORE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Felisha Tillmon, was employed as a counselor with the Mississippi Delta Community Mental Health in Greenville, Mississippi from August 16, 2005 until August 14, 2006. (Tr. Page 1) Appellant was informed by her supervisor on the date of discharge that she was no longer needed. On the same date, August 14, 2006, Appellant filed an initial claim for benefits with the Mississippi Department of Employment Security. (Tr. pages 1, 3) Said claim was denied and a Notice of Monetary Decision was issued on August 15, 2006. (Tr. Page 4)

Appellant submitted a letter on September 2, 2006 protesting the decision denying her unemployment benefits. A Notice of Telephone hearing before an Administrative Appeals

Officer was issued on September 28, 2006. (Tr. pages 5, 6) A Decision of the Administrative

Law Judge was issued on October 5, 2006 dismissing Appellant's appeal and determining that
the appeal had been abandoned since Appellant did not appear. (Tr. pages 8-9). On October 8
and 17, 2006, Appellant submitted letters to Appellee stating that she had not received the

Notice of telephone hearing and requesting that another hearing be scheduled. Said request was
denied by letter to Appellant on October 23, 2006. (Tr. pages, 10,13, 14)

On or about October 30, 2006, Appellant filed an appeal to the Mississippi

Department of Employment Security Board of Review from the decision of the

Administrative Law Judge dismissing her appeal and denying request for rehearing. The Board of
Review issued a Decision dated November 30, 2006 dismissing the appeal and finding that it was
filed more than 14 days after the decision of the Administrative law Judge on October 5, 2006.

(Tr. pages 18-19) Said Decision was affirmed by Order of the Circuit Court of Washington

County, Mississippi on May 9, 2007.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Decision of the Administrative Law Judge was issued on October 5, 2006. However, Appellant immediately submitted her request for rehearing on October 8, 2006 stating as good cause that she did not receive the notice of telephone hearing that had been issued on September 28, 2006. This request for rehearing was denied by letter dated October 23, 2006. Appellant then filed an appeal to the Board of Review on October 30, 2006, within 14 days of the final decision denying the rehearing. Appellant's appeal to the Board of Review was, therefore, timely filed.

Since the Board of Review determined that the appeal was not timely filed within 14 days of the decision of the Administrative Law Judge, it never made a determination of whether the Appellant had shown good cause for a rehearing on her claim. Appellant's appeal was timely filed, as discussed above, and this issue should have been considered by the Board of Review. Appellant submits that good cause was shown for her failure to appear for the administrative hearing, and that she is entitled to unemployment benefits on the claim filed herein.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER APPELLANT'S APPEAL TO THE MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY BOARD OF REVIEW WAS TIMELY FILED

Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Section 71-5-519, the parties shall be given a "reasonable opportunity" for fair hearing on the initial or amended determination of a claim for unemployment benefits. The Decision of the Administrative Law Judge, issued in this case on October 5, 2006, provides:

"... if neither you nor your representative attended your hearing, you may file a written request with the Administrative Law Judge for a rehearing within the aforesaid fourteen(14) days. Your request should state the reason you failed to attend. The Administrative law Judge will determine if good cause exists to grant a rehearing. (Tr. pages 8-9)

After the Decision of the Administrative Law Judge was issued on October 5, 2006,
Appellant submitted a letter dated October 8, 2006 stating that she did not receive the notice of
the telephone hearing until October 7, 2006. A second letter dated October 17, 2006 was sent by
Appellant to Appellee requesting a rehearing which was stamped received on October 19, 2006.
(Tr. pages 10, 13) Both of these letters were filed with Administrative Law Judge within
fourteen days of the Decision of October 5, 2006. The Administrative Law Judge issued a
Decision on October 23, 2006 denying the request for rehearing and stated the following:

[&]quot;If you wish to file further appeal from the Administrative Law Judge's decision dated October 5, 2006, you will have 14 days from the date of this letter to do so. (Tr. page 14)

Based on the date of the final Decision of the Administrative Law Judge denying the said request for rehearing on October 23, 2006, Appellant's 14 days to appeal would have extended until November 7, 2006. The appeal to the Board of review was filed on October 30, 2006, as stated in its Decision dated November 30, 2006. (Tr. pages 18-19) Consequently, said appeal was timely filed in accordance with the requirements of the Decision of the Administrative Law Judge denying Appellant's request for rehearing. The Decision of the Board of Review was, therefore, erroneous and the Order entered in this cause affirming said Decision should be reversed and set aside. Southwood Door Co. V. Burton, 847 So.2d 833 (Miss. 2003)

II. WHETHER APPELLANT SHOWED GOOD CAUSE FOR FAILURE TO APPEAR FOR TELEPHONE HEARING BEFORE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann Section 71-5-519, notices required on appeals must be actually received, and proof of mailing is not sufficient. Holt v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n, 724 So.2d 466 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998) After the Decision of the Administrative Law Judge on October 5, 2006, Appellant submitted a letter indicating that the Notice of telephone hearing was not actually received until October 7, 2006. (Tr. page 10) The Administrative Law Judge determined that good cause was not shown and denied Appellant's request for rehearing. (Tr. page 14) Said Decision was contrary to Mississippi law and should be set aside.

The Board of Review never made a determination on Appellant's request for rehearing for good cause since its Decision was based upon the timeliness of the appeal. The Court should, therefore, reverse the Decision of the Administrative Law Judge, or remand this proceeding to The Mississippi Department of Employment Security Board of Review.

CONCLUSION

Appellant timely filed the appeal of the Decision of the Administrative Law Judge, dated October 23, 2006, denying the request for rehearing. The Board of Review determination that said appeal was not timely is erroneous and should be set aside. The Order of the Circuit Court of Washington County should, therefore, be reversed.

Appellant did not actually receive the notice of telephone hearing herein until two days after the hearing. Proof of mailing said notice is not sufficient and good cause for a rehearing was properly established.