IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FELISHA TILLMON

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CC-00940

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representatives are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Felisha Tillmon, Appellant
- 2. MS Delta Community Mental Health, Employer
- 2. Mississippi Department of Employment Security, Appellee

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the Board of Review's decision is supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed, finding that the Claimant, Felisha Tillmon, defaulted, or abandoned her appeal, by failing to be available to participate and offer proof at the Administrative Law Judge's [hereinafter also "ALJ"] telephonic hearing scheduled for October 5, 2006, pursuant to the provisions of <u>Appeals Regulations of the Mississippi Employment Security Commission, Nos. 9 and 10</u> (October 13, 2000, and as amended)?

- 2. Whether Felisha Tillmon failed to timely appeal the ALJ's decision dated October 5, 2006, pursuant to M.C.A. Section 71-5-519 (1972, as amended), such that the Board of Review's dismissal of her appeal in its November 30, 2006 decision was proper?
 - 3. If the Court finds that Felisha Tillmon did timely appeal the ALJ's decision to the Board of Review, whether the dismissal of Felisha Tillmon's claim by the Board of Review was nevertheless the appropriate result, because Ms. Tillmon defaulted, or abandoned her appeal, pursuant to the provisions of Appeals Regulations of the Mississippi Employment Security Commission, Nos. 9 and 10 (October 13, 2000, and as amended), and did not have good cause for failing to participate and offer proof at the ALJ's telephonic hearing scheduled for October 5, 2006?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Felisha Tillmon [hereinafter also "Claimant"] was employed by MS Delta Community Mental Health [hereinafter also "Employer"] from August 16, 2005, until August 12, 2006. After her discharge, Ms. Tillmon filed for unemployment benefits. (R. Vol 2 p. 1). A Claims Examiner investigated by interviewing Ms. Tillmon and an Employer representative, Naomie Davis, Human Resources. (R.

Vol 2 p. 3). Ms. Davis stated that Ms. Tillmon violated the Employer's policy prohibiting leaving work without permission. Ms. Davis further stated that violation of the policy was grounds for immediate termination; and Ms. Tillmon was terminated on August 14, 2006. (R. p. 3). Ms. Tillmon admitted leaving without permission, but alleged that she had a migraine headache, and told a coworker. (R. Vol 2 p. 3).

Based upon this information, the Claims Examiner found that Ms. Tillmon violated the Employer's policy prohibiting leaving work without permission, which constituted misconduct. Thus, Ms. Tillmon was disqualified from receiving benefits. (R. Vol 2 p. 5).

Ms. Tillmon appealed. (R. Vol 2 p. 5). A telephonic hearing was scheduled for October 5, 2006; and Ms. Tillmon was sent instructions on how to participate. (R. p. 6-7). On the date and time of the hearing, the ALJ convened the hearing, but Ms. Tillmon was not available to participate. Thus, the ALJ held that Ms. Tillmon failed to follow the instructions and make herself available. (R. Vol 2 p. 8-9). The ALJ then made the following Findings of Fact and Decision, towit:

Based on an appeal filed by Felisha Tillmon (claimant), this case came on before the Administrative Law Judge for a telephone hearing scheduled for October 05, 2006, at 08:30 A.M.

The Appeals Tribunal Office mailed a Notice of Hearing to the interested parties on September 28, 2006.

After due notice was provided for the date, time, and place of hearing, the appellant in this case did not participate in the hearing. The appellant has not given notice of any reason or cause for his non-appearance.

The Mississippi Department of Employment Security Appeal Regulation 10 provides that a default ruling may be entered against the appellant for failing, without good cause, to appear at a hearing. Upon abandonment of a request for a hearing or appeal by the party who failed it, the Administrative Law Judge may dismiss the appeal or request for a hearing.

A party shall be deemed to have abandoned a request for a hearing if neither the party appealing nor his/her representative appears at the time and place fixed for the hearing and prior to the hearing such party does not show good cause why he/she or his/her representative cannot appear.

As of the date of this order, the appellant did not appear or show cause for non-appearance. The Administrative Law Judge, having determined that the appeal has been abandoned, hereby DISMISSES the appeal.

(R. p. 8-9).

Ms. Tillmon requested a re-hearing on October 11, 2006 and October 17, 2006. (R. Vol 2 p. 10-13). This request was denied by the Office of Administrative Appeals on October 23, 2006. This letter stated that since the ALJ's decision was mailed to the correct address for Ms. Tillmon, she failed to show good cause for missing the hearing. (R. Vol 2 p. 14).

Ms. Tillmon then appealed to the Board of Review on October 30, 2006. (R. Vol 2 p. 15). The Board wrote Ms. Tillmon a letter concerning her appeal stating the following:

In the matter of the claim for unemployment benefits, we are advising that an appeal to the Board of Review has been received. The Board will consider your appeal based upon the record already made and no hearing will be scheduled unless the Board, in its discretion, shall direct that a further hearing be scheduled.

A copy of the appellant's appeal is enclosed for review by the other party.

The Board's decision on your appeal, or notice of further hearing if directed by the Board, will be forthcoming.

(R. Vol 2 p. 17). Subsequently, at a regular session of the Board of Review on November 30, 2006, it found that Ms. Tillmon did not timely appeal the ALJ's October 5, 2006 decision. (R. p. 18).

Ms. Tillmon then filed her appeal to the Circuit Court. On May 9, 2007, the Circuit Court of Washington County affirmed the decision of the Board of Review. (R. Vol. 1 p. 8).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Pursuant to its rule-making authority, the Mississippi Department of Employment Security [hereinafter also "Department" or "MDES"] has adopted Appeals Regulations. Regulation Nos. 9 and 10 address failure to timely appear at a hearing. M.C.A. Section 71-5-525 (Miss. 1995). A copy of these Regulations are attached hereto as Exhibit "A". Regulation 2 provides that notices shall be given by mail. Regulation 9 (c) provides that when a party fails to appear, the MDES has the discretion as to refusing to re-open a hearing. Regulation 10 provides that failure to appear is a default or abandonment of the appeal; and a default ruling may be entered. Thus, the issue regarding Ms. Tillmon's default is within the MDES's authority to determine under M.C.A. Sections 71-5-523 and 71-5-525 (Miss. 1995), and the regulation making authority of the MDES.

Since Ms. Tillmon, the Appellant, was disqualified by the Claims Examiner, she had the responsibility of pursuing her hearing by making herself available to testify at the hearing. Pursuant to Department Regulation, Ms. Tillmon's failure to participate was an abandonment of her appeal, and tantamount to a default. *Department Regulation 9 and 10*, attached hereto as Exhibit "A".

Regarding Ms. Tillmon's argument that she had good cause for missing the hearing, she argues that she did not receive the hearing notice until after the hearing. The Mississippi Supreme Court has ruled that where notice was mailed to the last known address of the claimant, good cause for late filing has not been shown. Cane v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 368 So.2d 1263 (Miss. 1979). Further, there is a presumption of proper delivery of the mail. Thus, for Ms. Tillmon to establish good cause based upon alleged failure to timely receive the notice, she must have presented some affirmative proof as to late or non-delivery of the mail, other than simply stating that she failed to receive the notice. See Holt v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 724 So.2d 466 (Miss. COA 1998) (insufficient evidence was presented to overcome the presumption of proper delivery).

Regarding the Board of Review's decision dismissing her appeal because she did not appeal timely, Ms. Tillmon's appeal was filed within 14

days of the Appeals Department's denial of her request for rehearing. While this appeal was not within 14 days of the ALJ's decision, it was within 14 days of the Appeals Department's denial of her request for rehearing. Thus, even though this Court may find that the appeal to the Board of Review was timely, the dismissal by the Board is nevertheless correct under Regulations 9 and 10, as discussed above. In the interest of judicial economy, the MDES submits that remand of this matter to the Board would be unnecessary, and inappropriate, because there is substantial evidence supporting the Appeals Department's finding that she did not establish good cause to reopen the hearing. Id. (R. Vol 2 p. 14).

Since the Claims Examiner disqualified Ms. Tillmon based upon an investigation, and since Ms. Tillmon appealed and then failed to make herself available for the telephonic hearing, there is substantial evidence supporting the Board of Review's decision that she defaulted or abandoned her appeal, according to MDES Appeal Regulations 9 and 10. Since there is substantial evidence supporting the Appeal Officer's finding that she did not show good cause for missing the hearing, since the Board of Review's decision dismissing the case is the correct result, and since remand to the Board of Review to consider whether Ms. Tillmon had good cause for missing the hearing would

not achieve judicial economy, this Honorable Court should affirm the Board of Review and Circuit Court decisions.

ARGUMENT

This appeal is governed by the provisions of Section 71-5-531, Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972 (Revised 1995). That section provides that the Courts will consider the record made before the Board of Review of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security, and, absent fraud, will accept the Findings of Fact if supported by substantial evidence. Richardson v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 593 So.2d 31 (Miss. 1992); Barnett v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 583 So.2d 193 (Miss. 1991); Wheeler v. Arriola, 408 So.2d 1381 (Miss. 1982).

In <u>Barnett</u>, the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that "{J}udicial review, under <u>Miss. Code Ann.</u> Section 71-5-531 (1972), is, in most circumstances, limited to questions of law, to-wit:

In any judicial proceedings under this section, the findings of the board of review as to the facts, if supported by evidence and in the absence of fraud, shall be conclusive, and the jurisdiction of said court shall be confined to questions of law."

<u>Barnett</u>, 583 So.2d at 195. Furthermore, if the Board's Findings are supported by substantial evidence and the relevant law was properly applied, then the reviewing Court must affirm. <u>Id.</u>

In the instant case, Ms. Tillmon was given notice of the telephonic hearing, and instructions on how to participate. However, she failed to participate and testify. (R. Vol 2 p. 8-9, 10-13, 14). In that regard, the Department adopted Appeals Regulations to address this situation.

Regulations Nos. 9 and 10 address failure to timely appear at a hearing. In particular, Regulation 9 (c) provides that when a party fails to appear, the Department has the discretion as to refusing or granting re-opening of a hearing. Further, Regulation 10 provides that failure to appear is a default or abandonment of the appeal; and a default ruling may be entered. Thus, the issue regarding Ms. Tillmon's default is within the Department's authority to determine under M.C.A. Sections 71-5-523 and 71-5-525 (Miss. 1995), and the regulation making authority of the Commission. A copy of these Regulations are attached hereto as Exhibit "A".

Regarding Ms. Tillmon's argument that she had good cause for missing her hearing, the cases addressing timeliness of appeals are instructive. The Mississippi Supreme Court has ruled that where notice was mailed to the last known address of the claimant, good cause for late filing has not been shown. Cane v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 368 So.2d 1263 (Miss. 1979). Further, to establish good cause based upon non-delivery

or late delivery of the mail, there must be some affirmative proof by Ms. Tillmon as to the alleged failure of the post office, other than she simply failed to receive the notice. <u>See Holt v. Mississippi Employment Security</u> Commission, 724 So.2d 466 (Miss. COA 1998) (insufficient evidence was presented to overcome the presumption of proper delivery).

As applied to the facts of this case, this Court should find that Ms. Tillmon has not presented an excuse for missing the ALJ hearing that would be recognized as good cause under the appeal deadline case authorities. Id. See also City of Tupelo v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 748 So.2d 151 (Miss. 1999) (City did not show good cause for filing an appeal late simply because the notice was mailed to one of several addresses for the City); Powell v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 787 So.2d 1277 (Miss. 2001) (Circuit Court's allowance of untimely appeal based upon claimant's assertion of "unforeseen circumstances" was insufficient proof of good cause).

Regarding the appeal to the Board of Review deadlines, M.C.A. Section 71-5-517 (Rev. 1995) provides in pertinent part, to-wit:

The claimant or any party to the initial determination or amended initial determination may file an appeal from such initial determination or amended initial determination within fourteen (14) days after notification thereof, or after the date such notification was mailed to his last known address.

M.C.A. Section 71-5-519 provides in pertinent part, to-wit:

... an appeal tribunal...shall affirm, modify or reverse the findings of fact and initial determination or amended initial determination. The

parties shall be duly notified of such tribunal's decision, together with its reason therefor, which shall be deemed to be the final decision of the board of review unless within fourteen (14) days after the date of notification or mailing of such decision, further appeal is initiated pursuant to Section 71-5-523.

Regarding the Board of Review's decision dismissing her appeal, because she did not appeal timely, Ms. Tillmon's appeal was filed within 14 days of the Appeals Department's denial of her request for rehearing. While this appeal was not within 14 days of the ALJ's decision, it was within 14 days of the Appeals Department's denial of her request for rehearing. Thus, even though this Court may find that the appeal to the Board of Review was timely, the dismissal by the Board is nevertheless correct under Regulations 9 and 10, as discussed above. In the interest of judicial economy, the MDES submits that remand of this matter to the Board would be unnecessary, and inappropriate, because there is substantial evidence supporting the Appeals Department's finding that she did not establish good cause to reopen the hearing. Id. (R. Vol 2 p. 14).

CONCLUSION

The facts of this case establish that Ms. Tillmon was the appellant in her administrative appeal; and she failed to make herself available to testify in the scheduled hearing on her appeal. Pursuant to the Department's Regulations, where the Appellant fails to appear, the Department is entitled to find that the

appellant, Ms. Tillmon, has defaulted or abandoned the appeal. Additionally, Ms. Tillmon fails to establish good cause for re-opening the hearing, considering the cases authorities addressing what would be considered good cause for an untimely appeal. Further, although the Board of Review's reasoning for dismissing Ms. Tillmon's appeal may have been wrong, the result was proper, based upon Appeal Regulations 9 and 10, and considering Ms. Tillmon's reason for missing the hearing. Thus, the decision of the Board of Review and Circuit Court should be affirmed by this Honorable Court. Alternatively, this matter should be remanded by the Court to the MDES with instructions.